1957

George W. Williams v. Arthur Hardman : Brief of Defendant and Appellant Arthur Hardman

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On December 20, 1955, Nathan Child was driving a 1951 International Pickup Truck east on Highway 40, approximately 10 miles west of Salt Lake City when the vehicle suddenly veered from the south center of the highway to the north side, where it collided with an automobile driven by plaintiff, George W. Williams, resulting in serious injuries to him. The plaintiff brought this action to recover damages against Nathan Child, Arthur

Hardman, dba Hardman Auto Sales and Barrus Motor Company. The suit was brought against Hardman as a defendant on the theory that Child was his servant or agent and against Barrus Motor Company on the theory that the steering apparatus and the wheels of the vehicle were in a defective condition, which the Barrus Motor Company knew or should have known.

The allegations of negligence were denied by all three defendants. Hardman also denied that Child was his agent or servant.

When the plaintiff had rested, the court, upon motion, dismissed the Barrus Motor Company from the action. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendants Hardman and Child in the sum of \$78,055.17.

This appeal is taken by the defendant Hardman upon the grounds that there was no evidence to submit to the jury on the issue of whether Child was his servant or agent and that his motion for a directed verdict of no cause of action should have been granted. He also contends that the court erroneously gave certain instructions and refused to give others, and that the verdict was so excessive as to indicate the jury was governed by passion or prejudice.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant Hardman is a resident of Sunset, Utah, where he operated a garage and used car lot (R. 122). The defendant Child had known Hardman for some time before December 20, 1955 (the date of the accident). They were friends; Child had purchased cars from him in the past.

Sometime before December 20th Child told Hardman he was interested in buying a used pickup truck (R. 124). A short time later Hardman informed Child that he had located an International 1951 pickup truck which might interest him, and arrangements were made for Child to accompany Hardman to Tooele, Utah in order that he could see the vehicle (R. 82). They drove from Sunset to Tooele in Hardman's wrecker truck. Hardman did not pay Child any wages or compensation for making the trip, nor did Child pay any of the trip expense (R. 133).

After arriving in Tooele they inspected the pickup truck; took it for a test drive during which both drove it. The test revealed that certain minor repairs were necessary. Child said if those defects were fixed he would take the truck (R. 94). Hardman told Child that he would not pay Barrus Motor Company for the truck unless Child would take it as he did not want to stock any merchandise at that time of the year (R. 131). Barrus Motor made the

repairs. The truck was then accepted by Child at the agreed purchase price of \$650.00 plus the turn-in value of Child's old truck (R. 97 and 132). Child intended to pay Hardman \$500.00 cash on the purchase price when they got back to Sunset and to obtain credit for the balance (R. 97). Hardman paid Barrus \$600.00 for the truck. They did not have the Registration Certificate but did deliver to Hardman the Certificate of Title, which he did not deliver to Child (R. 125, 126). He intended to place "Stickers" on the truck when he got back to his place of business (R. 128). The purpose of the stickers is to allow the purchaser to drive the vehicle for twenty days in order that he may have time to obtain license plates (R. 132). The Certificate of Title obtained from Barrus would be sent in to the State Motor Vehicle Department for a new Certificate of Title which would be issued to Child in his name (R. 135).

The deal between Hardman and Child for the sale of the truck to Child was virtually complete in Tooele (R. 128). The paper work would be done when they returned to Sunset (R. 139). Hardman did not intend to have Child sign a Conditional Sales Contract nor did he intend to retain title until the balance of the purchase price was paid (R. 137). A note for the balance was mentioned but there was no discussion as to its terms. Hardman assumed

Child would sign a note (R. 138). Hardman was willing to accept Child's credit (R. 140).

Before leaving Tooele on the return trip Child considered the truck his and wanted to drive it back (R. 99-100). Hardman considered the truck belonged to Child, his only interest being to obtain the purchase price (R. 141). Hardman gave no instructions on driving the truck to Child; however, he did state that generally on trips of this kind they occasionally passed each other (R. 129-30, 134). On the return trip Child drove the pickup truck. Hardman towed another vehicle behind his wrecker.

The collision with the car driven by the plaintiff happened about one and one-half miles west of Morton's Salt Plant on U. S. Highway 40. After the accident Hardman made no demand on Child for the purchase price of the truck because Child was off work for seven months and then lost his job (R. 332).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE DEFENDANT NATHAN CHILD WAS NOT DRIVING SAID PICKUP TRUCK AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT AS THE AGENT OR SERVANT OF THE DEFENDANT ARTHUR HARDMAN.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS ON THE LAW AND BY FAILING TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS REQUESTED BY DEFENDANT.

POINT III.

THE VERDICT WAS EXCESSIVE, APPEARING TO HAVE BEEN GIVEN UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF PASSION AND PREJUDICE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE DEFENDANT NATHAN CHILD WAS NOT DRIVING SAID PICKUP TRUCK AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT AS THE AGENT OR SERVANT OF THE DEFENDANT ARTHUR HARDMAN.

This case arose out of the same accident, and the evidence on the issue of whether Child was acting in the capacity of Hardman's agent or servant in driving the truck is substantially the same as the evidence in the case of *Ida M. Johnson. Administratrix of the estate of C. Tennyson Johnson, Deceased*, vs. *Arthur Hardman, et al.*, No. 8647, now pending on appeal in this Court, and the case of *Walter Anderson* vs. *Arthur Hardman, et al.*, No. 8580, on which this Court has rendered a decision, not yet final as the defendant will file a Petition for Rehearing. Both parties made an exhaustive research of the law applicable on the issue of Hardman's responsibility for Child's operation of the

truck in the appeal of those cases. The defendant has no additional authorities to cite to the Court on the same issue in this appeal and in order to avoid needless repetition, refers the Court to his briefs filed on the appeal in the two preceding cases.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS ON THE LAW AND BY FAILING TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS REQUESTED BY DEFENDANT.

Appellant contends that the court's instructions considered as a whole were prejudicially erroneous to the defendant in that his theory of the case as supported by the evidence was not submitted to the jury.

In the court's instruction number 1, which purported to set out the contentions of the parties, the jury was told in substance that plaintiff alleged Child was Hardman's agent and that Child was negligent in driving the pickup truck; that the defendants denied they were negligent, but the instruction omitted the contention of Hardman that Child was not his agent. Inasmuch as the instruction purports to state the contentions of the parties, omitting the issue of agency was probably interpreted by a jury of laymen as meaning there was no issue on agency even though they were told in the court's subsequent instruction number 2 that the

burden of proof to show that Child was Hardman's agent or servant was on the plaintiff.

The court's instruction number 6 reads as follows (R. 379) :

“You are instructed that whether one person is agent of another depends upon right of control of one over another, and if you find from the evidence that after delivering the truck to Child at Tooele Hardman had no control or right of control over the operation of the vehicle and *that it was not being driven by Child for or on behalf of Hardman, then you are instructed that Child was not the agent of Hardman at the time of the accident* and your verdict must be for the defendant Hardman.”

The italicized part of this instruction requires the jury to find that Child was Hardman's agent, if the truck was being driven “for or on behalf of Hardman” even though the evidence showed Hardman had no control or right of control over the operation of the vehicle, which is not in accord with the law in this state. *Dowsett v. Dowsett*, 116 Utah 12, 207 P. 2d 809; *Conklin v. Walsh*, 113 Utah 276, 193 P. 2d 437.

Defendants earnestly contend that there was no evidence whatever to show that the relationship of master and servant existed between Hardman and Child. Child was not paid any wage or compensation by Hardman. In making the trip to Tooele he was motivated only by his interest in buying the

truck. However, the issue of whether Child was Hardman's servant or employee was submitted to the jury in instructions 2, 9 and 12. The law is well settled that it is error to instruct the jury on an issue of liability not supported by the evidence. See *State Bank of Beaver County v. Hollingshead*, 82 Utah 416, 25 P. 2d 612.

In the case of *Clay v. Dunford* (Utah), 239 P. 2d 1075, it was held to be prejudicial error to instruct on assumption of risk when the facts in the case did not present the issue.

The repetition of the issue of master and servant at the end of instructions 2, 9 and 12 unduly emphasize plaintiff's theory of recovery. In the case of *Shields v. Utah Light and Traction Company*, 99 Utah 307, 105 P. 2d 347, 349, the court stated:

“The reiteration of given propositions to a jury in the instructions does not have judicial approval.”

After reviewing the detailed instructions the court stated:

“And the ensuing emphasis on applicable laws favorable to plaintiff's side as the result of the continued reference, and the repeating of certain law propositions resulted in the unbalancing of the charge and error.”

This case was cited with approval in the later Utah decision of *Devine v. Cook*, 3 Utah 2d 134, 279 P. 2d 1073.

In its instruction number 8 the court submitted the issue of whether Hardman and Child were engaged in a joint venture at the time of the accident, which defendant contended was error and that the evidence showed as a matter of law that this relationship did not exist in that it was undisputed that Child did not contribute or pay anything towards the expense of the trip. Hardman was not riding in the truck driven by Child at the time of the accident, the purchase price had been agreed upon and Child had taken possession of the vehicle, Hardman's only remaining interest in the transaction being to receive the purchase price. If Hardman had been involved in the accident, could his negligence have been imputed to Child? The question suggests a negative answer. If the relationship between them was joint venture, it must work both ways. This issue was again submitted to the jury and repeated in instruction number 12, further, tending to emphasize the proposition.

POINT III.

THE VERDICT WAS EXCESSIVE, APPEARING TO HAVE BEEN GIVEN UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF PASSION AND PREJUDICE.

The defendant Hardman does not contend that the plaintiff's injuries were not serious or that he will not sustain permanent disability as a result. The attending physician testified that in his opinion the plaintiff would be unable in the future to do physical work of the type that he was doing at the

time of the accident but might be able to do a sitting job if qualified for it (R. 189). The doctor was unable to say whether or not the plaintiff would obtain a union of the broken left femur (R. 183). He anticipated excellent results on the injury to the right knee (R. 184). The prognosis of recovery of injury to the right arm was indefinite (R. 185).

There can be no doubt that the jury was extremely sympathetic for the plaintiff, which was reflected in their verdict. Anticipating such might happen the defendant in Request No. 15 asked the court to instruct the jury as follows (R. 41):

“You are instructed that your verdict must be based solely and exclusively upon the evidence in the case. You should not be governed by passion, prejudice, sympathy or any motive whatever, except fair and impartial consideration of the evidence, and you must not under any circumstances allow any sympathy which you may have or entertain for the plaintiff to influence you in any degree whatsoever in arriving at your verdict. The court does not charge you not to sympathize with the plaintiff because it is only natural and human to sympathize with persons who have sustained loss, affliction or misfortune, but the court does charge you not to allow that sympathy to enter into your consideration of the case or to influence your verdict.”

which was refused.

We appreciate that whether a verdict is excessive damages on the facts and circumstances

of each case. Nothing would be gained by citing the court numerous decisions involving different fact situations. The case of *Stamp v. Union Pacific*, 5 Utah 2d 397, 303 P. 2d 279, reaffirms the principle and earlier decisions that the reviewing court has the power to reduce a verdict clearly given under the influence of passion or prejudice, and the opinion analyzes the situations where the amount of the verdict so indicates.

We believe that this verdict is unreasonably high in comparison with other verdicts in this jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

We respectfully submit that the evidence established as a matter of law that Child was not Hardman's agent in the manner in which he drove the pickup truck, and the verdict should be set aside and a judgment of no cause of action entered in favor of the defendant Hardman, that the court's instructions were prejudicially erroneous and the verdict was so excessive as to clearly indicate the jury was governed by passion or prejudice.