1957

# George W. Williams v. Arthur Hardman : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT DEFENDANT CHILD WAS THE AGENT OR SERVANT OF DEFENDANT HARDMAN OR HIS JOINT VENTURER AND DEFENDANT HARDMAN IS LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENCE OF DEFENDANT CHILD AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The evidence in this case is the same as that presented in *Anderson v. Hardman*, supra. In the case at bar it was shown that Hardman was in the used car business at Sunset, Utah, (123,124) and that in furtherance of

this business he took Child to Tooele to sell him a truck. Their testimony was again to the effect that they had agreed that Child was to pay \$500.00 on the return to Sunset and the balance of \$150.00 would be paid "in a short period of time" (138). Both Child and Hardman contemplated that they would have further documents to sign. Child testified he knew he was going to sign a contract, but did not know what it would provide (103). Hardman testified that there was to be a note and although the note had been mentioned, nothing was said as to what it would contain. It would be produced for the first time for Child's perusal at Sunset (138, 139). Hardman had not delivered the certificate of title nor bill of sale to Child (126). The certificate of registration had not even been delivered to Hardman so he had not delivered it to Child (126). It was agreed on all sides that the transaction was not to be completed until they had returned to Sunset (84, 128). On the return trip the license plates of Hardman were used on the truck (85).

It was necessary, in furtherance of defendant Hardman's used car business, to return the truck to Sunset to complete the ultimate purpose of that business to wit: the sale of the truck. He was taking another car back on his wrecker and he requested Child to drive the truck to Sunset (87). Hardman also suggested that they pass each other on the way back so they could keep in touch with one another (87, 88). As a matter of fact, Child was passing Hardman in compliance with this suggestion at the time the collision occurred.



All of the foregoing facts are uncontroverted and undisputed. We submit that this Court in the Anderson case held that the responsibility of Hardman for the negligence of Child was established as a matter of law. This Court therein said:

“There is no substantial conflict in the evidence; and the facts concerning the relation between Hardman and Child are uncontroverted. The question is what conclusion of law *must* be drawn from the evidence.”

This Court then held that title had not passed from Hardman to Child and in going from Tooele to Sunset they were acting in furtherance of Hardman’s business in completing the sale of the truck. Hence Child’s negligence was imputed to Hardman.

The uncontroverted evidence establishes this relationship and therefore it is not necessary to look to the instructions. The trial court should have instructed as a matter of law that Hardman was responsible for the negligence of Child.

## POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS ON THE LAW AND ADEQUATELY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON ALL MATERIAL ISSUES.

As stated above, we do not believe the Court need consider these instructions but in order to make a complete answer to appellant’s brief we will consider each of the contentions he makes with respect to the claimed

errors in the instructions given by the court. Defendant does not contend that any requested instruction not given should have been given.

Defendant contends that his theory was not properly presented. He also contends that the repetition of the instructions concerning the issue of master and servant was prejudicial. It is difficult to understand how his theory could not have been presented and at the same time was presented to the point that it was prejudicially repetitious.

Instruction No. 1 purported to set forth the contentions of the parties and cannot be considered an instruction setting forth the elements necessary for plaintiff to prove in order that the jury might return a verdict in his favor. The issue of agency was thoroughly and completely covered in the instructions and plaintiff was required by the instructions to prove this issue. Defendant Hardman answers his own criticism of this instruction when he refers to the court's instruction No. 2. In that instruction the court specifically states the burden of proof is upon plaintiff to prove that Child was negligent and in order to recover against defendant Hardman, plaintiff had the burden of proof to show that Child was negligent and that the relationship between Hardman and Child was that of principal and agent, or master and servant, or joint venturers (46).

Further exploring the contention of defendant Hardman regarding failure to set forth his theory it should be

noted that the jury were instructed concerning the relationship between Child and Hardman in seven instructions. Three of these instructions were those requested by defendant Hardman. Two were requested by plaintiff and two were prepared by the court. Defendant Hardman's requested instructions 7 (33), 9 (35) and 13 (39) were given in substance in the court's instructions 7 (51), 9 (53) and 6 (50) respectively. Comparison and review of these instructions will show that all phases of defendant Hardman's theory was presented to the jury, including that of right of control. See Instructions No. 6 (50) 9 (53) and 11 (55).

Another startling contention of defendant is that there should be a reversal because the trial court gave instruction No. 6 (50). Instruction No. 6 is defendant Hardman's requested instruction No. 13 (39) and it is that requested instruction, word for word, even including the italicized portion of the instruction set forth on Page 8 of appellant's brief.

Defendant contends there was no evidence to justify submission of the case to the jury on the theory of master and servant or joint venture. We submit that *Anderson v. Hardman*, supra, has foreclosed any such argument as this.

We respectfully submit that Child's neglect should be imputed to Hardman as a matter of law and hence we need not consider any claimed error in these instructions. However, even though we do give conscientious

consideration to these instructions it at once becomes apparent that the jury was completely and adequately instructed on the law defining the relationship between Hardman and Child and no error was committed in this regard.

### POINT III.

THE VERDICT WAS NOT EXCESSIVE AND DOES NOT APPEAR TO HAVE BEEN GIVEN UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF PASSION OR PREJUDICE.

Under this point defendant makes the bald contention that the verdict is excessive and appears to have been given under the influence of passion and prejudice. He does not undertake to discuss or analyze the facts. There is good reason why he did not. It is apparent that if he had done so, it would appear without question that this contention would fall of its own weight.

Defendant complains of the failure to give defendant's requested instruction concerning passion, prejudice and sympathy. The trial court did instruct on this subject as follows (64):

"You should consider all the evidence impartially, fairly and without prejudice of any kind, and from such consideration, in connection with the instructions given you by the court, you should reach such a verdict as will do justice between the parties."

We submit the burden is upon appellant to establish that the verdict is excessive. He has not attempted to discharge that burden. With but two pages of his brief

devoted to this subject and with no discussion of the facts, we cannot believe him to be serious in this contention. Even though defendant does not discuss the facts, we will do so to completely put at rest any question about the amount of this verdict.

We believe it will be helpful to review a few of the authorities which define the role the appellate court plays in the review of the contention that damages are excessive.

In our jurisprudence the jury has been selected as the tribunal to fix damages. The trial court has a discretion to exercise in passing upon the amount of the verdict. The question of damages was presented to the trial court by defendant's Motion for a New Trial (66, 67). This motion was overruled (68). The trial court thereby placed his stamp of approval upon the amount of the verdict. This approval is given great weight by appellate courts and very rarely is such approval overruled.

The importance of this approval has been recognized by this Court in *Stephens Ranch & Live Stock Co. v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, 48 Utah 528, 161 Pac. 459, wherein it was stated:

“Necessarily upon such a question appellate courts must, to a large extent, rely upon the judgment and discretion of the trial court. That court is in a much better position to observe and determine whether a jury was actuated by passion or prejudice, or by both, in returning a verdict for an amount larger than the evidence justifies, or

whether the jury was merely mistaken with regard to the amount that should have been allowed.”

In *Geary v. Cain*, 69 Utah 340, 255 P. 416 the Court stated:

“\*\*\* in case of doubt, the deliberate action of the trial court should prevail. Otherwise this court will sooner or later find itself usurping the functions of both the jury and the trial court.”

See also *Wilson v. Oldroyd*, 1 Utah 2d 362, 267 P. 2d 759 (1954).

After the trial court has approved the amount of the verdict, the appellate court only reviews the ruling on the basis of whether the trial court has abused its discretion. It was so held in *Jensen v. Denver & Rio Grande R. Co.*, 44 Utah 100, 138 Pac. 1185, wherein the Court stated:

“Still that court, in such particular, is not supreme or beyond reach. Its action may nevertheless be inquired into and reviewed on an alleged abuse of discretion, or a capricious or arbitrary exercise of power in such respect. Such a review is not a review of a question of fact, but of law. A ruling granting or refusing a motion for a new trial is certainly reviewable when the proceedings with respect to it are properly preserved and presented. That has not been questioned. Of course the ruling will not be disturbed on evidence in conflict or on matters involving discretion. Yet our power to correct a plain abuse of discretion or undo a mere capricious or arbitrary exercise of power cannot be doubted.”

Neither this Court nor the trial court should set its opinion against the opinion of the jury. To do so would but usurp the function of the jury. In the Jensen case this Court stated:

“Neither is either party on that question entitled to the judgment of the court below in a case of tort tried to a jury. Both parties, as to that, are entitled to the unprejudiced judgment of the jury. That is exclusively within their province. Their power and discretion, when properly exercised and when they have been properly directed as to the measure of damages and the mode of assessing it, may not be interfered with merely because the court above or below may think the amount rendered is too large, or even may think it appears to be larger than the evidence apparently or fairly justifies. A court, vacating a verdict and granting a new trial by merely setting up his opinion or judgment against that of the jury, but usurps judicial power and prostitutes the constitutional trial by jury.”

The case most widely cited as laying down the proper rule to be followed by an appellate court is the case of *Coleman v. Southwick*, 9 Johns. 45, where Chancellor Kent stated:

“\*\*\* The damages, therefore, must be so excessive as to strike mankind at first blush, as being, *beyond all measure, unreasonable, and outrageous*, and such as manifestly show the jury to have been actuated by *passion, partiality, prejudice, or corruption*. In short, the damages must be *flagrantly outrageous, and extravagant*, or the court cannot undertake to draw the line; for they

have no standard by which to ascertain the excess. (Cleveland, etc. Co. v. Hadley, 170 Ind. 204, 82 N.E. 1025, 84 N.E. 13, 16 L.R.A. (N.S.) 535, 16 Ann. Cas. 1; 15 Am. Jr., p. 623.)”

This Court has also had occasion to address itself to this problem in *Pauly v. McCarthy*, 109 Utah 431, 184 P. 2d 123 (1947). Most of the earlier Utah cases were cited and the rule was expressed as follows:

“Since the Jensen case above quoted, it is well settled that this court has power to, and will, consider assignments of error based on excessive verdicts. (cases cited) But, although we have the power to order a new trial in case of an excessive verdict, it is a power which we have rarely, if ever, exercised. However, in the case of *Shepard v. Payne*, supra, we ordered a remission of \$2,500 from a \$10,000 verdict. In that case, the excess was not the result of passion or prejudice, but was determinable as a matter of law.

“Where we can say, as a matter of law, that the verdict was so excessive as to appear to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice, and the trial court abused its discretion or acted arbitrarily or capriciously in denying a motion for new trial, we may order the verdict set aside and a new trial granted. *Jensen v. Denver & R.G.R. Co.*, supra; and other cases cited above following that decision. But mere excessiveness of a verdict, without more, does not necessarily show that the verdict was arrived at by passion or prejudice. *Stephens Ranch & Livestock Co. v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, supra. It is true that the verdict might be so grossly excessive and disproportionate to the injury that we could say from that fact



alone that as a matter of law the verdict must have been arrived at by passion or prejudice. But the facts must be such that the excess can be determined as a matter of law, or the verdict must be so excessive as to be shocking to one's conscience and to clearly indicate passion, prejudice, or corruption on the part of the jury. *McAfee v. Ogden Union Ry. & Depot Co.*, *supra*; *Ward v. Denver & R. G. W. R. Co.*, *supra*. This is not such a case.

"The verdict here was admittedly liberal. But the mere fact that it was more than another jury, or more than this court, might have given, or even more than the evidence justified, does not conclusively show that it was the result of passion, prejudice, or corruption on the part of the jury."

\* \* \*

"The jury is allowed great latitude in assessing damages for personal injuries. *Miller v. Southern Pac. Co.*, 82 Utah 46, 21 P. 2d 865. The present cost of living and the diminished purchasing power of the dollar may be taken into consideration when estimating damages. *Coke v. Timby*, 57 Utah 53, 192 P. 624; *McAfee v. Ogden Union Ry. & Depot Co.*, *supra*.

"We can discover nothing in this case, except the amount of the verdict, which indicates passion or prejudice, and, as we have seen, passion and prejudice are not necessarily inferred from an excessive verdict, without more. No exception was taken to the jury or any member thereof. No conduct on the part of the jury, evincing passion and prejudice, has been called to our attention. The only point of complaint is the size of verdict."

The last paragraph quoted is particularly applicable here because no exception or objection was leveled at the jury or any member thereof or at any conduct of the jury. Defendant relies solely upon the amount of the verdict.

To show how sparingly and with what hesitancy this power should be invoked we point to the fact that this Court has never set aside a verdict on this ground. The Court recognized the fact in *Lodder v. Western Pacific R. Co.*, 259 P. 2d 589 (Not yet officially reported in the Utah reports) (1953) where it was stated:

“But we find no case where this court has held that as matter of law passion and prejudice were shown merely by the excessive amount of the verdict \*\*\*.”

With these rules in mind let us now turn to the evidence presented in the case at bar.

The jury returned a verdict of \$78,055.17. This consisted of general damages in the amount of \$70,000.00 and special damages in the sum of \$8,055.17. These special damages may be further broken down as follows:

Hospital expenses .....	\$5,406.32
Doctors' bills .....	2,624.00
Ambulance .....	24.85
Total .....	\$8,055.17

Counsel states that this verdict is unreasonably high in comparison with other verdicts in this jurisdiction.

While we have been following rather closely for a number of years the verdicts for injuries in this and other jurisdictions, we confidently assert that so far as this jurisdiction is concerned, the injuries suffered by plaintiff were worse than any we have ever encountered. The injuries suffered by plaintiff are both tremendous and frightful. The amount of the verdict pales into insignificance when it is compared with these injuries.

Mr. Williams was the driver of the automobile and was on the left side, which side apparently sustained the brunt of the impact. At the time of trial, twenty-six months after the accident, plaintiff was in a cast incasing both legs and both hips and was still being hospitalized. It appeared further hospitalization would be necessary. Bony union had not been effected in his left leg, his right arm was useless.

A mere recapitulation of the injuries sustained by him shows their aggravated character.

The collision occurred December 20, 1954, shortly after 4:00 o'clock p.m. Dr. Marion B. Noyes first saw plaintiff at approximately 8:00 p.m. on that day at the County Hospital (151). At the time he arrived, the medical staff at the County Hospital was treating plaintiff for shock.

Plaintiff was suffering from acute shock; there was a scalp laceration going clear across his forehead; there were multiple cuts, abrasions and hematose contusions.

He had a badly comminuted fracture with abnormal displacement at the upper end of his left femur; he had a fractured right arm and a fractured right leg. This latter fracture went into the tibial plateau, which is the top of the tibia and the weight bearing portion of that joint. He was also suffering from a concussion of the brain and was unconscious. The cut across the forehead was described as "ragged and dirty." He also had a cut ear and in the area of his neck he had many cuts, ecchymosis, black and blue spots, and hematose collection of the blood underneath the skin. The 8th, 9th and 10th ribs had been fractured and the lung punctured, letting air into the chest cavity. After transfusions of blood and saline transfusions and IB fluids, he was taken to the LDS Hospital (151, 152).

After arriving at this hospital they continued to treat him for shock. It was impossible to give the fractures adequate treatment because of his condition and, as the Doctor stated, it would do no good to fix the fractures if it killed the patient.

The doctor was unable to start any active treatment of the fractures until December 31, 1954 (160).

We will take each of the injuries and conditions and delineate in detail the extent of the injury, the treatment given and the result obtained.

The following is a list of the time spent by plaintiff in the hospital from the date of the collision to the date of trial:

<i>Dates</i>	<i>No. of Days</i>
1. Dec. 20, 1954 to April 17, 1955.....	118
2. Aug. 13, 1955 to Aug. 20, 1955.....	7½
3. Oct. 5, 1955 to Oct. 7, 1955.....	3
4. Nov. 18, 1955 to Dec. 10, 1955.....	22
5. Feb. 20, 1956 to Mar. 11, 1956.....	20
6. Mar. 26, 1956 to Apr. 3, 1956.....	8
7. July 14, 1956 to July 28, 1956.....	14
8. Jan. 5, 1957 to Jan. 7, 1957.....	3
9. Jan. 14, 1957 to Feb. 14, 1957.....	31
Total.....	<u>224½</u>

In considering the above and also in considering the detailed statement of injuries to follow, the Court should have in mind two of the elements of damages recoverable in a personal injury case. Plaintiff is entitled to recover for the mental and physical pain and suffering which he has endured and which he may probably endure in the future. Also he is entitled to recover for loss of bodily function in the past and for the loss of bodily function he may probably suffer in the future. *Picino v. Utah Apex Mining Co.*, 52 Utah 338, 173 P. 900.

## SHOCK

The injuries suffered by plaintiff caused him to suffer shock (151). This condition was considered acute. The Doctor stated: "In fact we treated him all that night; it took a lot of heroic treatment to keep him from expiring." This was treated by blood transfusions, saline transfusion, IB fluids and oxygen. It was not until the 31st of December that his condition of shock was such that they could start to actively treat some of the very

serious injuries plaintiff had sustained in the collision. (152, 153). For at least two nights he was about to expire (153).

### LACERATIONS

There were many lacerations, cuts and bruises and particularly the laceration that went across the forehead (151). These wounds were cleaned out and the necessary treatment given to them.

### FRACTURE OF LEFT FEMUR

This is and the fracture of the right arm are the most serious injuries sustained by plaintiff. In describing the injury as shown by X-rays of December 27 the doctor testified (157):

“Now, the fracture of the left femur was high, it was an especially bad fracture. This is in the splint and this is the ring you can see hanging down, it shows not only a comminution, broken across, it is splintered up and down and fragmented — which shows a large intervening fragment, which in itself complicates the fracture and the outlet for the fracture.”

In referring to an X-ray taken on December 20th, the doctor stated as follows (157, 158):

“It shows the lesser trochanter, the muscles attached are loose.

“Here is another one, the same night. That shows even more so, if you want to see these.

“This is the upper part of the left femur, this is what we call the upper fragment, the upper broken part, the main shaft is below, and this is the large piece intervening—it was knocked loose, it was not only broken once, it was broken twice and up and down this way, and it shows a bad position.

“You have got to get these bones together, get them in position when they are in that condition.

“In other words, it is a very badly comminuted fracture.”

Immediately after he arrived at the L.D.S. Hospital the doctor put plaintiff's left leg in traction (160).

On December 31st an open reduction of the fracture was attempted. It consisted of making an incision in the leg, cutting to the bone, reducing the fracture and immobilizing it (160). In order to immobilize the fracture they performed an operation which the doctor called Intra Medullary nail pinning. It was necessary after this operation to apply a cast to both legs (160). We will treat of the fracture to the right leg hereinafter.

On January 7, 1956 the cast was changed (165). By August of 1956 it was discovered there was evidence of osteomyelitis or low grade infection in the fractured femur. To attempt to cure this was the purpose of two visits to the hospital. The doctor explained how this infection could come from a sequestration of dead bone.

Pieces of bone lose their blood supply in cases of fractures of this kind and they become dead. The body attempts to throw them off and they cause an irritant (168).

Finally on February 22, 1956 it became necessary to perform another open operation (175). The doctor performed what is called a sequestrectomy. At that time the dead bone was removed. The doctor also testified: "\*\*\*\* we saucerized, which means cleaning out the space for the osteomyelitis." Also at this time a bone graft was performed in an attempt to promote the healing. The bone was taken from the iliac crest of the hip bone and placed in the fracture site. Still later on plaintiff developed an abscess high on the thigh, which caused fever. The doctor testified that they put plaintiff to sleep and did an open drainage of the abscess (176).

In July of 1956 an x-ray still showed some dead pieces of bone in the left leg. Another open operation was performed which the doctor called "open drainage." The pieces of dead bone were removed and drainage put in to take care of the infection (176).

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